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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD MEMBERS OF 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY  
 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Building and Construction Authority (the  “Authority”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and 
the Authority as at 31 March 2023, statements of comprehensive income and statements of changes in 
reserves of the Group and the Authority, and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial  statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, 
as set out on pages 6 to 50.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement  of financial 
position, the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of changes in reserves of the Authority 
are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act 2018  
(“the PSG Act”), the Building and Construction Authority Act 1999 (the “Act”) and Statutory Board Financial 
Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”) so as to  present fairly, in all material aspects, the state of affairs of the 
Group and the Authority as at 31 March 2023 and results and changes in reserves, of the Group and the  
Authority and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.   
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and 
Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.   
 
 
Other Matters 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, the statement of 
comprehensive income and the statement of changes in reserves of the Authority for the financial year ended 
31 March 2022 were audited by another firm of auditors who expressed an unmodified opinion on those 
financial statements on 16 August 2022. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD MEMBERS OF 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY  
 
 
 
Information Other than Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
 
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the Statement by the 
Authority set out on page 1, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.   
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
 
Responsibilities Of Management And Those Charged With Governance For The Financial 
Statements   
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the PSG Act, the Act and SB-FRSs, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
A statutory board is constituted based on its constitutional act and its dissolution requires Parliament’s 
approval. In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless there is intention to wind up the Group or for the Group to cease 
operations. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD MEMBERS OF 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY  
 
 
 
(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.  

 
(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management.  
 
(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 
(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
(f) Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion: 
 
(a) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the 

Authority during the financial year are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of 
the PSG Act, the Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or managed 
by the Authority; and  

 
(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Authority 

whether purchased, donated or otherwise.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD MEMBERS OF 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD MEMBERS OF 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY  
 
 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with SSAs. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit section of our report.  We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the ACRA Code together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on management's compliance. 
 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements   
 
Management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the 
acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the PSG Act, the Act and the 
requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or managed by the Authority. This 
responsibility includes monitoring related compliance requirements relevant to the Authority, and 
implementing internal controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the 
requirements. 
 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit   
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial 
statements. We planned and performed the compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance 
with the provisions of the PSG Act, the Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable to 
moneys of or managed by the Authority.   
 
Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, 
expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Because of the inherent 
limitations in any internal control system, non- compliances may nevertheless occur and not be detected.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
Singapore 
 
 
 
11 August 2023 
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
31 March 2023 
 
 
  Group Authority 
 Note 2023 2022 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
ASSETS      
      
Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 4 200,358 169,100 200,358 169,100 
Investments in subsidiaries 5 - - - - 
Trade and other receivables 6 24,282 41,060 24,282 41,060 
Total non-current assets  224,640 210,160 224,640 210,160 
      
Current assets      
Trade and other receivables 6 51,437 60,679 50,760 60,841 
Cash and bank balances 7 423,672 432,293 413,682 422,011 
Total current assets  475,109 492,972 464,442 482,852 
      
Total assets  699,749 703,132 689,082 693,012 
      
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      
      
Non-current liabilities      
Fees received in advance 8 27,658 27,623 27,658 27,623 
Lease liabilities 9 27,954 50,077 27,954 50,077 
Provision for pension costs 10(a) 2,605 2,725 2,605 2,725 
Provision for reinstatement costs 10(b) 2,447 2,062 2,447 2,062 
Deferred capital grants 11 9,370 6,685 9,370 6,685 
Total non-current liabilities  70,034 89,172 70,034 89,172 
      
Current liabilities      
Fee received in advance 8 57,139 57,925 53,391 54,430 
Lease liabilities 9 39,929 58,608 39,929 58,608 
Trade payables  9,406 8,640 9,255 8,592 
Other payables and accruals 12 71,388 66,659 71,389 66,321 
Provision for pension costs 10(a) 183 186 183 186 
Grants received in advance 13 88 75 88 75 
Deferred capital grants 11 1,554 1,154 1,554 1,154 
Provision for contribution to 

consolidated fund 14 4,279 3,447 4,279 3,447 
Income tax payables  77 27 - - 
Total current liabilities  184,043 196,721 180,068 192,813 
      
Capital and reserves      
Share capital 15 36,887 29,827 36,887 29,827 
Capital account 16 30,817 30,817 30,817 30,817 
Accumulated surplus  377,968 356,595 371,276 350,383 
Total capital and reserves  445,672 417,239 438,980 411,027 
      
Total liabilities and equity  699,749 703,132 689,082 693,012 
      
Net assets of trust and  
   agency funds 17 25,739 18,324 25,739 18,324 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 

Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2023
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 
  Group Authority 
 Note 2023 2022 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Operating income      
Plan fees  31,854 34,801 31,854 34,801 
Course fees  20,250 25,241 20,250 25,241 
Trade test fees  39,297 13,238 39,297 13,238 
Quality and green mark assessment fees  17,475 10,252 17,012 9,994 
Advertisement licence fees  6,753 6,483 6,753 6,483 
Certification fees  - 732 - 732 
Contractors registration fees  4,840 4,788 4,840 4,788 
Operating lease income  11,886 1,976 11,886 1,976 
Management fees  13,321 18,565 13,321 18,565 
Other income  17,110 14,700 15,836 14,023 
Total operating income  162,786 130,776 161,049 129,841 
      
Operating expenditure      
Employee benefit costs 19 134,879 132,972 134,879 132,033 
Depreciation of property, plant  

and equipment 4 16,185 16,090 16,185 16,090 
Provision of impairment loss on  

trade receivables  24 1,126 1,456 1,126 1,456 
Other expenditure  71,363 50,400 70,165 50,095 
Total operating expenditure  223,553 200,918 222,355 199,674 
      
Net operating deficit  (60,767) (70,142) (61,306) (69,833) 
      
Non-operating income/(expenses)      
Interest income  7,561 4,730 7,561 4,730 
Interest expense  (2,898) (4,526) (2,898) (4,526) 
Property, plant and equipment  

written off/expensed  (294) (199) (294) (199) 
  4,369 5 4,369 5 
      
Deficit before government grants   (56,398) (70,137) (56,937) (69,828) 
Government grants      
Operating and development grants 13 81,072 88,371 81,072 88,371 
Deferred capital grants amortised 11 1,037 1,733 1,037 1,733 
  82,109 90,104 82,109 90,104 
      
Surplus before contribution to 

consolidated fund and income tax  25,711 19,967 25,172 20,276 
Contribution to consolidated fund 14 (4,279) (3,447) (4,279) (3,447) 
Income tax expense 20 (59) (367) - - 
Surplus for the year 21 21,373 16,153 20,893 16,829 
      
Re-measurement gain on defined benefit  

plan representing other comprehensive  
income for the year, net of tax 10(a) - 294 - 294 

Total comprehensive income for the year  21,373 16,447 20,893 17,123 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 

Statements of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2023
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 
Year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 
  Share Capital Accumulated  
 Note capital account surplus Total 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 
Group      
      
Balance at 1 April 2021  8,448 30,817 340,148 379,413 
      
Surplus for the year  - - 16,153 16,153 
Re-measurement gain on defined  

benefit plan 10(a) - - 294 294 
Total comprehensive income  

for the year  - - 16,447 16,447 
      
Issue of share capital representing 

transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity 15 21,379 - - 21,379 

      
Balance at 31 March 2022  29,827 30,817 356,595 417,239 
      
Surplus for the year, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year  - - 21,373 21,373 
      
Issue of share capital representing 

transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity 15 7,060 - - 7,060 

      
Balance at 31 March 2023  36,887 30,817 377,968 445,672 
 
 
Authority      
      
Balance at 1 April 2021  8,448 30,817 333,260 372,525 
      
Surplus for the year   - - 16,829 16,829 
Re-measurement gain on defined  

benefit plan 10(a) - - 294 294 
Total comprehensive income  

for the year  - - 17,123 17,123 
      
Issue of share capital representing 

transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity 15 21,379 - - 21,379 

      
Balance at 31 March 2022  29,827 30,817 350,383 411,027 
      
Surplus for the year, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year  - - 20,893 20,893 
      
Issue of share capital representing 

transactions with owners, recognised 
directly in equity 15 7,060 - - 7,060 

      
Balance at 31 March 2023  36,887 30,817 371,276 438,980 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 

Statements of Changes in Reserves
Year ended 31 March 2023
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 
Year ended 31 March 2023 
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Surplus for the year   - - 16,829 16,829 
Re-measurement gain on defined  

benefit plan 10(a) - - 294 294 
Total comprehensive income  

for the year  - - 17,123 17,123 
      
Issue of share capital representing 
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See accompanying notes to financial statements 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 
  Group 
 Note 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    
   Deficit before government grants  (56,398) (70,137) 
   Adjustments for:    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 16,185 16,090 
Interest income  (7,561) (4,730) 
Interest expense  2,898 4,526 
Loss on lease modification  - 214 
Property, plant and equipment written-off/expensed  294 199 
Impairment loss on receivables 24 1,126 1,456 
Provision for pension costs 10(a) 65 71 
Provision for reinstatement costs 10(b) 339 1,248 

  (43,052) (51,063) 
    
   Changes in working capital:    

Decrease in trade and other receivables  34,702 56,664 
(Decrease)/increase in fees received in advance  (751) 6,187 
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables  767 (6,564) 
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals  8,672 (32,828) 
Increase in cash not available for general use  (15,220) (7,786) 

Cash flows used in operations  (14,882) (35,390) 
    

Payment of contribution to consolidated fund  (3,447) - 
Payment of income tax  (348) (343) 
Pension paid  (188) (180) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (18,865) (35,913) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (Note A)  (51,604) (33,020) 
Interest received  3,116 6,072 

Net cash used in investing activities  (48,488) (26,948) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    

Payment of lease liabilities 9 (45,177) (65,650) 
Issuance of shares 15 7,060 21,379 
Government grants received  83,985 91,958 
Deferred capital grants received  200 - 
Interest paid  (2,556) (4,223) 

Net cash from financing activities  43,512 43,464 
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (23,841) (19,397) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  414,087 433,484 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7 390,246 414,087 
 
 
 
 

Statements of Cash Flows
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d) 
Year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 
  Group 

 Note 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
Note A:    
    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment:    
    
Additions of property, plant and equipment  4 47,737 42,819 
Add: Opening accruals for the purchase of property, plant and  

equipment 12 7,155 2,215 
Less: Closing accruals for the purchase of property, plant and  

equipment 12 (3,288) (7,155) 
Less: Property, plant and equipment funded through  

capital grant  - (800) 
Less: Property, plant and equipment not paid  - (4,059) 
  51,604 33,020 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d) 
Year ended 31 March 2023 
 
 
  Group 

 Note 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
Note A:    
    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment:    
    
Additions of property, plant and equipment  4 47,737 42,819 
Add: Opening accruals for the purchase of property, plant and  

equipment 12 7,155 2,215 
Less: Closing accruals for the purchase of property, plant and  

equipment 12 (3,288) (7,155) 
Less: Property, plant and equipment funded through  

capital grant  - (800) 
Less: Property, plant and equipment not paid  - (4,059) 
  51,604 33,020 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 
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1 Domicile and activities 
 
The Authority is established as a statutory board in the Republic of Singapore under the Building and 
Construction Authority Act 1999 (the “Act”).  The address of the Authority’s registered office is  
52 Jurong Gateway Road, #11-01, Singapore 608550. 
 
The mission of the Authority is to transform the built environment sector and shape a liveable  
and smart built environment for Singapore. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in 
Note 5 to the financial statements. 
 
 

2 Basis of preparation 
 

2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provision of the Act and the 
Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). SB-FRS includes Statutory Board Financial 
Reporting Standards, Interpretations of SB-FRS and SB-FRS Guidance Notes.  The related changes to 
significant accounting policies are described in note 2.5. 
 
 

2.2 Basis of measurement 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described 
in the notes below. 
 
 

2.3 Functional and presentation currency 
 
These financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the Authority’s functional 
currency, unless otherwise stated. 
 
 

2.4 Use of estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SB-FRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
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Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial 
statements is included in the following notes: 
 
• Note 3.8 (i) – provision for pension costs 
 
• Note 3.9 – revenue recognition 
 
• Note 4 – estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
 
• Note 6 – recoverability of trade and other receivables 
 
The accounting policies used by the Group have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements. 
 
 

2.5 Changes in accounting policies 
 
New standards and amendments 
 
On 1 April 2022, the Group and the Authority adopted all the new and revised SB-FRS pronouncements 
that are mandatorily effective and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised 
SB-FRSs pronouncements did not result in changes to the Group’s and the Authority’s accounting 
policies and has no material effect on the disclosures or on amounts reported for the current or prior 
years. 
 
 

3 Significant accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements, except as explained in note 2.5, which addresses changes in accounting policies.  
 

3.1 Basis of consolidation 
 

(i) Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 
ceases. 
 
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the 
policies adopted by the Group.  
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Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control 
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BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2023 
 
 
 

13 

3.2 Foreign currency 
 

 Foreign currency transactions 
 
The individual financial statements of each entity are measured and presented in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). In preparing the 
financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign 
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At 
each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period. 
 
 

3.3 Financial instruments 
 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 
 
Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated.  All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.  
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial 
liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair value through profit or 
loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.  A trade 
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.  
 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Non-derivative financial assets 
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) – equity investment; or FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes 
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 
 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
 
• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and 
 
• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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Financial assets: Business model assessment 
 
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is 
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is 
provided to management.  The information considered includes: 
 
• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.  

These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, 
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the 
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the 
sale of the assets;  

 
• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;  
 
• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 

that business model) and how those risks are managed; and  
 
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for 

such sales and expectations about future sales activity.  
 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are 
not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the assets. 
 
Financial assets that are held-for-trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a 
fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 
 
 
Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest. 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition.  ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit 
risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other 
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument.  This includes assessing whether the financial 
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows 
such that it would not meet this condition.  In making this assessment, the Group considers: 
 
• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;  
 
• terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features; 
 
• prepayment and extension features; and 
 
• terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 

features). 
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• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;  
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A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the 
prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of 
the contract.  Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a significant discount or premium to its 
contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially 
represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also 
include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this 
criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 
 
 
Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  The 
amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses.  Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.  Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
 
Non-derivative financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.  A financial liability is 
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading or it is designated as such on initial 
recognition.  Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including 
any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss.  Directly attributable transaction costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs.  
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest 
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.  These financial 
liabilities comprised trade and other payables. 
 
 

(iii) Derecognition 
 
Financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when: 
 
• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or  
 
• it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either: 
 

- substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred 
or  

 
- the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 

ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 
 
Transferred assets are not derecognised when the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers 
assets recognised in its statement of financial position but retains either all or substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of the transferred assets.  
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Financial liabilities 
 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, 
or expire.  The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash 
flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based 
on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 
 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and 
the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
 

(iv) Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off 
the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 
 
 

(v) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and cash balances with the Accountant-General 
Department that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in their fair value.  
 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
at bank and cash with the AGD excluding cash at bank not available for general use. 
 
 

(vi) Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares 
 
Pursuant to Finance Circular Minute No. M26/2008 on capital management framework for statutory 
boards, equity injection from the government is recorded as share capital. 
 
 

(vii) Financial guarantees  
 
Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Group that require the issuer to make 
specified payments to reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 
meet payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. 
 
Financial guarantees issued are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at 
the higher of the loss allowance determined in accordance with SB-FRS 109 and the amount initially 
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with 
the principles of SB-FRS 115. 
 
Expected credit losses (“ECL”) are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. ECLs are measured 
for financial guarantees issued as the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts 
that the Authority expects to recover. 
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3.4 Property, plant and equipment 
 
(i) Recognition and measurement 

 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing 
costs, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-
constructed assets includes: 
 
• the cost of materials and direct labour;  
 
• any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their 

intended use; and 
 
• when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the 

costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. 
 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part 
of that equipment. 
 
If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit 
or loss. 
 
 

(ii) Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value.  Significant components of 
individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder 
of that asset, that component is depreciated separately. 
 
Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in 
the carrying amount of another asset. 
 
Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are 
ready for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed 
and ready for use. 
 
The estimated useful lives for the current year are as follows: 
 
• Right-of-use assets  5 and 30 years 
• Office buildings and structures 29 and 30 years 
• Site office and land improvement 10 years 
• Office, training and mechanical &  
     electrical (“M&E”) equipment 5 to 10 years 
• Furniture, fittings and fixtures 8 years 
• Data processing equipment 3 to 5 years 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and adjusted if appropriate. 
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3.5 Impairment 
 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 
 
The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured 
at amortised cost. 
 
Loss allowances of the Group are measured on either of the following bases: 
 
• 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the  

12 months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the financial 
asset is less than 12 months); or  

 
• Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life 

of a financial asset or contract asset. 
 
 
Simplified approach 
 
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs for all trade receivables.  The simplified 
approach requires the loss allowance to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 
 
 
General approach 
 
The Group applies the general approach to provide for ECLs on all other financial assets.  Under the 
general approach, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs at initial 
recognition. 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition.  When credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This includes both quantitative and 
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit 
assessment and includes forward-looking information. 
 
If credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the 
financial assets improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security  
(if any is held). 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which 
the Group is exposed to credit risk. 
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Measurement of ECLs 
 
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of credit losses.  Credit losses are measured at the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).  
 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are 
credit-impaired.  A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
 
• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
 
• breach of contract such as a default;  
 
• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider 

otherwise; or 
 
• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 
 
 
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying 
amount of these assets.  
 
 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent 
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.  This is generally the case when the Group determines 
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to 
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.  However, financial assets that are written off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of 
amounts due. 
 
 

(ii) Non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset 
or its related cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs of disposal.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.  For the purpose of impairment testing, assets 
that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 
CGUs. 
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Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs 
are allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro 
rata basis. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
 

3.6 Trust and agency funds 
 
Trust and agency funds are government grants and contributions from other organisations where the 
Authority is not the owner and beneficiary of the funds. The Authority is merely administering the 
funds on behalf of the holders of these funds. Income and expenditure of these funds are taken directly 
to the funds. The net assets relating to the funds are shown as a separate line item in the statements 
of financial position.  
 
Trust and agency funds are reported on cash basis.  
 
 

3.7 Employee benefits 
 

(i) Defined contribution plans 
 
The Group makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) scheme in Singapore, a defined 
contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed. 
 
 

(ii) Employee leave entitlement 
 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the employees. 
The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period. 
 
 

(iii) Defined benefit retirement obligations 
 
Provision for pension benefits is made for pensionable officers transferred to the Authority on 1 April 
1999. Defined benefit retirement obligations due to pensionable officers are recognised in the 
Statements of financial position in accordance with the Pensions Act 1956. 
 
The Authority had engaged an actuarial to assess the provision for pension costs. 
 
An actuarial valuation is conducted once every four years or as and when required to determine the 
cost of pension benefits due to these officers using the Projected Unit Credit Method. 
 
Defined benefit costs comprise the following: 
 
- Service cost 
- Interest cost on the provision for defined benefits 
- Re-measurements of the provision for defined benefits 
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Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on non-routine 
settlements are recognised as expense in income or expenditure. Past service costs are recognised 
when plan amendment or curtailment occurs. 
 
Interest cost on the provision for defined benefits is the change during the period in the provision that 
arises from the passage of time which is determined by applying the discount rate based on the 
Singapore Government bond yield to the provision. Interest cost on the provision is recognised in 
income or expenditure. 
 
Re-measurements comprising actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other 
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Re-measurements are recognised in 
accumulated surplus within equity and are not reclassified to income or expenditure in subsequent 
periods. 
 
 

(iv) Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as 
the related service is provided. 
 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided 
by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 
 

3.8 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation.  Provision are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 
 

(i) Provision for pension cost 
 
As described in Notes 3.7(iii) and 10(a), the Group determines the provision for pension cost due to 
pensionable officers based on the expected pay-outs to be made by the Group in respect of services 
provided by these pensionable officers up to reporting date. 
 
Any possible change in key assumptions, on which the provision for pension is based, will affect the 
amount of employee benefit costs in the income and expenditure account. 
 
 

(ii) Provision for reinstatement cost 
 
The provision for reinstatement costs from contractual obligation to restore the leased office to their 
original states are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using 
estimated cash flows and are recognised as part of the cost of that particular asset. The cash flows 
are discounted at a current pre tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the reinstatement liability. 
The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in profit or loss as a finance 
cost. The estimated future costs of reinstatement are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. 
Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from 
the cost of the asset. 
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(iii) Provision for onerous contract 
 
A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The 
provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract 
and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group 
recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 
 
 

3.9 Revenue 
 
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control 
of a promised good or service to the customer.  The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of 
the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to 
determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal 
in all of its revenue arrangements. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised: 
 
• Plan fees are recognised as income over the expected duration of each category of project (by 

size and nature of work) Judgement is required to determine the expected duration of each 
category of projects based on historical information on the duration required to complete the 
projects; 

 
• Advertisement licence fees are recognised as income over the validity periods of the licence; 
 
• Course fees are recognised as income over the duration of the courses; 
 
• Quality and green mark assessment fees are recognised as income over the assessment period; 
 
• Certification fees are recognised upon issuance of the certification; 
 
• Trade test fees are recognised as income on completion of trade tests; 
 
•  Contractors registration fees are recognised as income over the validity period of the registration; 
 
• Operating lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term; and 
 
• Management fees are recognised as income over the period of services rendered. 
 
 
Source of estimation uncertainty 
 
Plan fees are recognised as income over the expected duration of each category of projects. The Group 
reviews the estimated duration of the projects regularly to determine the amount of revenue to be 
recorded at each financial year. Changes in the expected duration of the projects could impact the 
revenue and consequently affect the Group’s results. 
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(iii) Provision for onerous contract 
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3.10 Government grants 
 
Government grants are recognised initially at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they 
will be received and the Group will comply with all the conditions associated with the grants. 
 

(i) Operating grants from Government 
 
Government grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss 
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognised. 
 
 

(ii) Development grants 
 
Government grants received from other agencies for specific development project expenditure are 
recognised as grant received in advance on the statement of financial position and are recognised in 
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the development expenses are 
recognised. 
 
 

3.11 Leases 
 
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.  A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.   
 

(i) As a lessee 
 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-
alone prices.  However, for the leases of property, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease 
components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 
 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.  The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore 
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects 
that the Group will exercise a purchase option.  In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated 
over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those of property 
and equipment.  In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if 
any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 
 
The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by using Ministry of Finance’s Cost of Equity with 
the Risk-free rate and Market Risk Premium, with adjustments made for tenure, to reflect the terms 
of the lease and type of the asset leased. 
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
 
• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate as at the commencement date; 
 
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
 
• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early. 

 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is 
a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment.  The Group recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
 

(ii) As a lessor 
 
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. 
 
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease 
or an operating lease. 
 
To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset.  If this is the 
case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease.  As part of this assessment, 
the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic 
life of the asset. 
 
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the  
sub-lease separately.  It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.  If a head lease is a 
short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the  
sub-lease as an operating lease. 
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3.12 Statutory contribution to consolidated fund 
 
The Authority is required to make contributions to the Consolidation Fund in accordance with the 
Statutory Corporation (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act 1989 and in accordance with the 
Finance Circular Minute No. M5/2005 with effect from 2004/2005. The contribution is based on a 
percentage, as decided by Ministry of Finance, of the net surplus of the Authority (before donations) 
for the financial period. Contribution to consolidated fund is provided for on an accrual basis. 
 
 

3.13 Interest income  
 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the statement of comprehensive income, using effective 
interest method. 
 
 

3.14 Tax 
 
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax were recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly 
in equity or in OCI. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.  The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of 
the tax amount expected to be paid that reflects the uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is not recognised for: 
 
• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not 

a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and 
 
• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements 

to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. 
 
The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its asset 
and liabilities.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of 
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due.  The Group believes 
that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many 
factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.  This assessment relies on estimates 
and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may 
become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing 
tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a 
determination is made. 
 
 

3.15 Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group and the Authority have not applied 
the following SB-FRSs pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 
 
• Amendments to SB-FRS(I) 1-1 and SB-FRS(I) Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting 

Policies  
 
• Amendments to SB-FRS(I) 1-8: Definition of Accounting Estimates  
 
• Amendments to SB-FRS Guidance Note 11 Accounting for Grants Administered by Statutory 

Boards 
 
 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 
 
• Amendments to SB-FRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current  
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4 Property, plant and equipment 
 

The Group and the Authority reviews annually the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment based on factors such as business plans 
and strategies, expected level of usage and future technological developments. It is possible that future results of operations could be materially 
affected by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estimated useful life of property, 
plant and equipment would decrease the net profit and decrease the carrying value of property, plant and equipment. 
 

 
Right-of-use 

assets 

Office  
buildings and 

structures 

Site office  
and land 

improvement 

Office, training  
and M&E 

equipment 

Furniture, 
fitting and 

fixtures 

Data 
processing 
equipment 

Assets  
under 

construction Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Group and Authority         
         
Cost:         

Balance at 1 April 2021 87,022 56,634 1,895 28,021 32,533 37,845 35,211 279,161 
Additions 1,248 - 91 757 337 1,021 39,365 42,819 
Reclassification - 128 - 648 (340) 1,023 (1,459) - 
Disposal(i) - - - (2) - - - (2) 
Written-off(ii) - - - (2,011) (687) (1,256) (76) (4,030) 
At 31 March 2022 88,270 56,762 1,986 27,413 31,843 38,633 73,041 317,948 
Additions 339 - - 31 3 3,854 43,510 47,737 
Reclassification - - - - - 6,059 (6,059) - 
Disposal(i) (10,999) - - - - - - (10,999) 
Written-off(ii) - (464) - (979) (388) (3,468) - (5,299) 
At 31 March 2023 77,610 56,298 1,986 26,465 31,458 45,078 110,492 349,387 

 
 
 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Year ended 31 March 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023 73



 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2023 
 
 
 

28 

 
Right-of-use 

assets 

Office  
buildings and 

structures 

Site office  
and land 

improvement 

Office, training  
and M&E 

equipment 

Furniture, 
fitting and 

fixtures 

Data 
processing 
equipment 

Assets  
under 

construction Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Group and Authority         
         
Accumulated depreciation:         

Balance at 1 April 2021 22,001 35,814 1,198 26,243 23,749 27,586 - 136,591 
Depreciation for the year 7,137 954 188 724 2,914 4,173 - 16,090 
Disposals(i) - - - (2) - - - (2) 
Written-off(ii) - - - (2,006) (570) (1,255) - (3,831) 
At 31 March 2022 29,138 36,768 1,386 24,959 26,093 30,504 - 148,848 
Depreciation for the year 7,226 925 175 679 2,944 4,236 - 16,185 
Disposals(i) (10,999) - - - - - - (10,999) 
Written-off(ii) - (181) - (979) (377) (3,468) - (5,005) 
At 31 March 2023 25,365 37,512 1,561 24,659 28,660 31,272 - 149,029 

         
Carrying amounts:         

At 31 March 2022 59,132 19,994 600 2,454 5,750 8,129 73,041 169,100 

         
At 31 March 2023 52,245 18,786 425 1,806 2,798 13,806 110,492 200,358 

         
 
Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets of $42,493,000 (2022: $44,072,000) relating to leasehold land and $9,752,000  
(2022: $15,060,000) relating to office buildings and structures. See Note 22. 
 
 
(i)  Assets disposed refer to assets that have been sold or whose right-of-use has expired. 
 
(ii) Assets written-off refer to assets that that have been discarded without any sale proceeds.
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5 Investments in subsidiaries 
 
Unquoted shares at cost are at $2 (2022: $2). 
 
The subsidiaries at 31 March 2023 are: 
 

Name of subsidiaries 

Country of 
incorporation and 
principal place of 

business Principal activities 
Percentage of  

ownership interest 
   2023 2022 
   % % 
     
BCA International Private 
Limited 

Singapore Construction-related 
consultancy and  
advisory services 

100 100 

     
Built Environment Technology 
Alliance Ltd 

Singapore Research and experimental 
development on engineering 

100 100 

 
 

6 Trade and other receivables 
  Group Authority 
  2023 2022 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Trade receivables  13,428 11,847 13,075 11,803 
Other receivables  9,852 4,260 9,044 3,749 
Lease receivables  48,722 84,368 48,722 84,368 
Grant receivable  1,921 12 1,921 12 
Amounts due from subsidiaries   - - 541 774 
Deposits  101 101 101 101 
Trade and other receivables  74,024 100,588 73,404 100,807 
Prepayments  1,695 1,151 1,638 1,094 
Total trade and other receivables  75,719 101,739 75,042 101,901 
      
      
Represented by:      
   Current  51,437 60,679 50,760 60,841 
   Non-current  24,282 41,060 24,282 41,060 
  75,719 101,739 75,042 101,901 
      
 
Other receivables 
 
The other receivables are mainly interests receivables from Accountant-General’s Department (“AGD”) 
under the Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) scheme and amount due from sundry debtors.  
 
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 
 
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be 
settled in cash.  The outstanding balances are not impaired as at the financial year end. 
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Impairment losses 
 
In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality 
of the receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. If the financial 
condition of the customers were to deteriorate, the Group would be required to record additional 
impairment losses. Credit risk is limited due to management’s on-going evaluation of the 
creditworthiness of the Group’s customers and that majority of the Group’s trade receivables are within 
their expected cash collection cycle.  
 
 
Source of estimation uncertainty 
 
The Group evaluates at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that 
trade and other receivables are impaired and determines the amount of impairment loss as a result of 
the inability of the customers to make required payments having considered the probability of 
insolvency and credit-worthiness of its receivables except for the impaired receivables, the Group 
believes that no impairment loss is necessary in respect of the remaining receivables due to the good 
track record of its customers. 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk and impairment losses from trade and other receivables are 
disclosed in note 24. 
 
 

7 Cash and bank balances 
 Group Authority 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Cash at bank 18,599 11,130 8,609 849 
Cash with the AGD 405,073 421,163 405,073 421,162 
 423,672 432,293 413,682 422,011 
Less: Cash at bank not available for 

general use (33,426) (18,206) (33,426) (18,206) 
Cash and cash equivalents in  
   cashflow statement 390,246 414,087 380,256 403,805 
     
 
Cash at bank not available for general use 
 
The Group acts as a collection agent for various parties on certain projects and collects payments on 
their behalf. 
 
 
Cash with the AGD 
 
On 2 November 2009, the Accountant-General’s Department (“AGD”) issued a Circular No. 4/2009 to 
centrally manage the cash of all Statutory Boards and Ministries under the Centralised Liquidity 
Management (“CLM”) scheme. This scheme aims to achieve higher returns and to better manage credit 
risk at the Whole-of-Government level. The Authority has participated in the CLM scheme since  
25 March 2010. 
 
The weighted average CLM yield for the year ended 31 March 2023 is 1.56% per annum  
(2022: 0.30% per annum). 
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8 Fees received in advance 
 Group Authority 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
At beginning of the year 85,548 79,361 82,053 76,027 
Add: Fees received 123,879 105,436 123,266 105,017 
Less: Fees recognised as revenue (124,630) (99,249) (124,270) (98,991) 
At end of the year 84,797 85,548 81,049 82,053 
     
     
Represented by:     
   Current 57,139 57,925 53,391 54,430 
   Non-current 27,658 27,623 27,658 27,623 
 84,797 85,548 81,049 82,053 
     
 
Amounts relating to fees received in advance are balances received from customers for services to be 
performed by the Group and the Authority. The Group and the Authority will recognise contract liability 
for payment received and work has not been performed. Any amount previously recognised as a 
contract liability is recognised in revenue when the services are delivered to the customer. 
 
There are no significant changes in the contract liabilities balances during the reporting period. 
 
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates 
to brought-forward fees received in advance. There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting 
period that related to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year. 
 
 Group Authority 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Operating income 54,781 49,717 54,370 49,492 
 
 

9 Lease Liabilities 
 Group and Authority 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
Maturity analysis:   
   - Less than one year 41,274 61,110 
   - One to two years 11,893 25,415 
   - Two to three years 1,507 10,523 
   - Three to four years 1,285 1,248 
   - Four to five years 1,285 1,248 
   - More than five years 19,170 19,857 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 76,414 119,401 
Unearned interest (8,531) (10,716) 
Net lease liabilities 67,883 108,685 
   
   
Analysed as:    
   Current 39,929 58,608 
   Non-current 27,954 50,077 
 67,883 108,685 
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Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities 
 
 Lease liabilities 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Balance as at 1 April  108,685 147,957 
Changes from financing cash flows   
Payment of lease liabilities (45,177) (65,650) 
Interest paid (2,556) (4,221) 
Total changes from financing cash flows (47,733) (69,871) 
   
Other changes   
Interest expense 2,588 4,199 
New leases 4,343 26,400 
Total other changes 6,931 30,599 
   
Balance as at 31 March  67,883 108,685 
   
 
The Group and the Authority do not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. 
Lease liabilities are monitored within the Group’s and the Authority’s finance function. 
 
 

10 Provisions 
 

(a) Provision for pension costs 
  Group and Authority 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
    
At beginning of the year  2,911 3,314 
Add: Amount provided during the year   65 71 
  2,976 3,385 
Less: Pension paid during the year  (188) (180) 
Less: Remeasurement gain during the year  - (294) 
At end of the year  2,788 2,911 
    
    
Represented by:    
   Current  183 186 
   Non-current  2,605 2,725 
  2,788 2,911 
    
 
The above provision includes the provision for pension costs for 12 (2022:12) pensioners who have 
exercised the option for reduced pension with gratuity payment under the pension scheme other than 
CPF.  There is no employee of the Group who have not exercised any pension options under the 
pension scheme.  The pension amount to be paid to each employee upon retirement under the pension 
scheme is dependent on, among other factors, the number of years of service and the last drawn 
salary.  The total pension costs are shared between the Group and the AGD.  The Group is only liable 
for the pension costs for the period of service completed by the employee with the Group. 
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Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities 
 
 Lease liabilities 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Balance as at 1 April  108,685 147,957 
Changes from financing cash flows   
Payment of lease liabilities (45,177) (65,650) 
Interest paid (2,556) (4,221) 
Total changes from financing cash flows (47,733) (69,871) 
   
Other changes   
Interest expense 2,588 4,199 
New leases 4,343 26,400 
Total other changes 6,931 30,599 
   
Balance as at 31 March  67,883 108,685 
   
 
The Group and the Authority do not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. 
Lease liabilities are monitored within the Group’s and the Authority’s finance function. 
 
 

10 Provisions 
 

(a) Provision for pension costs 
  Group and Authority 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
    
At beginning of the year  2,911 3,314 
Add: Amount provided during the year   65 71 
  2,976 3,385 
Less: Pension paid during the year  (188) (180) 
Less: Remeasurement gain during the year  - (294) 
At end of the year  2,788 2,911 
    
    
Represented by:    
   Current  183 186 
   Non-current  2,605 2,725 
  2,788 2,911 
    
 
The above provision includes the provision for pension costs for 12 (2022:12) pensioners who have 
exercised the option for reduced pension with gratuity payment under the pension scheme other than 
CPF.  There is no employee of the Group who have not exercised any pension options under the 
pension scheme.  The pension amount to be paid to each employee upon retirement under the pension 
scheme is dependent on, among other factors, the number of years of service and the last drawn 
salary.  The total pension costs are shared between the Group and the AGD.  The Group is only liable 
for the pension costs for the period of service completed by the employee with the Group. 
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The employees are entitled to select one of the following pension options upon retirement: 
 
(i) Full pension; 
 
(ii) Reduced pension with gratuity payment; or 
 
(iii) Fully commuted pension gratuity. 
 
The defined retirement benefits obligations due to pensionable officers are determined based on the 
last drawn salaries of the respective pensionable officers and the pensionable officers’ cumulative 
service period served with the Authority at the time of retirement, assuming that all pensionable 
officers work till the age of 62 years.  
 
The provision has been estimated by management based on the valuation of the pension scheme 
performed by an independent firm of professional actuaries. 
 
These defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk and interest 
rate risk. 
 
The principal assumptions used by the professional actuaries in determining the pension costs are: 
 
•  Discount rate – Gratuity : 2.3% per annum (2022: 2.3% per annum) 
•  Discount rate – Pension : 2.3% per annum (2022: 2.3% per annum) 
•  Expected salary increment : Nil (2022: Nil) 
•  Mortality rate : Singapore Mortality Table 
•  Expected retirement age : 62 (2022: 62) 
 
 
Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables. 
The current longevities underlying the values of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date 
were as follows: 
 2023 2022 
   
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners   
Males 24 24 
Females 26 26 
 
 
At 31 March 2023, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 11 years  
(2022: 11 years). 
 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each 
significant assumption on the provision for pension costs as of the end of the reporting period, 
assuming all other assumptions were held constant: 
 
 Group and Authority 
 2023 2022 

 
Increase/ 
(decrease) $’000 

Increase/ 
(decrease) $’000 

     
Discount rates + 25 basis points (63) + 25 basis points (69) 
 - 25 basis points 66 - 25 basis points 71 
     
Mortality rates + 1 year 105 + 1 year 103 
 - 1 year (107) - 1 year (105) 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Year ended 31 March 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023 79



 
 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2023 
 
 
 

34 

(b) Provision for reinstatement costs 
 
Provision for reinstatement cost is the estimated cost of restoring the leased offices to their original 
states. The amount has been capitalized in the cost of the property, plant and equipment. 
 
 Group and Authority 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
At beginning of the year 2,062 794 
Add: Amount provided during the year 339 1,248 
Add: Unwinding of discount on reinstatement costs provision 46 20 
At end of the year 2,447 2,062 
   
   
Represented by:   
   Non-current 2,447 2,062 
 
 

11 Deferred capital grants 
  Group and Authority 
 Note 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
    
At beginning of the year  7,839 5,185 
Add: Government grants received/receivable    

 - Transferred from grants received in advance 13 2,913 3,587 
 - Assets funded by grants  1,209 800 

Less: Amortisation of deferred capital grants  (1,037) (1,733) 
At end of the year  10,924 7,839 
    
    
Represented by:    
   Current  1,554 1,154 
   Non-current  9,370 6,685 
  10,924 7,839 
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12 Other payables and accruals 
 Group Authority 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Amounts due to MND (i) 15,799 8,736 15,799 8,736 
Amounts due to Maritime and Port  
   Authority of Singapore (“MPA”) (ii) 750 566 750 567 
Amounts due to subsidiary 
   - non-trade (iii) - - 12 12 
Maintenance deposits 8 6 8 6 
Sundry creditors (iv) 3,045 845 3,035 845 
Accruals for unconsumed leave 5,543 7,457 5,543 7,457 
Accruals for operating expenses 20,430 22,068 20,430 21,717 
Advances received for Corenet 2.0 (v) 7,720 4,324 7,720 4,324 
Accruals for the purchase of property, 
   plant and equipment 3,288 7,155 3,288 7,155 
Security/tender deposits (vi) 11,993 12,973 11,993 12,973 
Scholarships 2,812 2,529 2,811 2,529 
Total other payables and accruals 71,388 66,659 71,389 66,321 
     
 
(i) The amounts collected on their behalf by the Authority for certain projects which the Group acts 

as an agent, are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash. 
 
MND has programs to support initiatives in developing Singapore’s economy which the Authority 
administers for MND. These projects include infrastructural development undertaken on behalf 
of the government, consultancy works and managing government quarantine facilities.  
 
The Authority disbursed funds to external parties who participated in these programs.  
The agency funds payable/receivable from the MND relates to the amount that is received in 
advance/to be reimbursed by MND for amounts disbursed. During the year, the agency funds 
amounts received from MND and disbursed to external parties are $22,203,000  
(2022: $79,587,000) and $23,729,000 (2022: $79,063,000) respectively.  

 
(ii) The amounts due to MPA mainly pertain to the amounts collected on their behalf by the Authority 

for certain projects which the Group acts as an agent.  These balances due to MPA are unsecured, 
interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash. 

 
(iii) Amount due to subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. 
 
(iv) Sundry creditors are non-interest bearing and normally have an average term of six months. 
 
(v) This amount was collected in advance from participating agencies in the development of  

Corenet 2.0.  
 
(vi) Included in security/tender deposits is an amount of $6,372,000 (2022: $7,006,000) collected 

under the Balcony Bonus Gross Floor Area Incentive Scheme. 
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12 Other payables and accruals 
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 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Amounts due to MND (i) 15,799 8,736 15,799 8,736 
Amounts due to Maritime and Port  
   Authority of Singapore (“MPA”) (ii) 750 566 750 567 
Amounts due to subsidiary 
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(i) The amounts collected on their behalf by the Authority for certain projects which the Group acts 

as an agent, are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash. 
 
MND has programs to support initiatives in developing Singapore’s economy which the Authority 
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(iv) Sundry creditors are non-interest bearing and normally have an average term of six months. 
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(vi) Included in security/tender deposits is an amount of $6,372,000 (2022: $7,006,000) collected 

under the Balcony Bonus Gross Floor Area Incentive Scheme. 
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13 Grants received in advance 
 

  Operating grants Development grants Total 
 Note 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Group and Authority        
        
At 1 April  - - 75 73 75 73 
Government grants  
   received/receivable  83,985 91,958 - - 83,985 91,958 
Interest earned  - - 13 2 13 2 
Transfer to deferred  
   capital grants 11 (2,913) (3,587) - - (2,913) (3,587) 
Transfer to income  
   or expenditure  (81,072) (88,371) - - (81,072) (88,371) 
At 31 March  - - 88 75 88 75 
 
 

14 Provision for contribution to consolidated fund 
 
The Authority is required to make contributions to the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the 
Statutory Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act 1989 and in accordance with the 
Finance Circular Minute No. M5/2005 with effect from 1 April 2004. The contribution is based on a 
percentage, as decided by the Ministry of Finance, of the net surplus of the Authority for the financial 
year. The percentage for FY2022/2023 is the prevailing corporate tax of 17% (2022: 17%). 
 
The total contribution for the year can be reconciled to the total comprehensive income as follows: 
 
 Authority 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Surplus of the Authority subject to contribution 25,172 20,276 
   
Contribution at 17% (2022: 17%) 4,279 3,447 
   
 

15 Share capital 
 Group and Authority 
 2023 2022 
 No. of shares $’000 No. of shares $’000 
     
Issued and fully paid up:     
At beginning of the year  29,827 29,827 8,448 8,448 
Issue of ordinary shares 7,060 7,060 21,379 21,379 
At 31 March  36,887 36,887 29,827 29,827 
 
 
Injection of capital is part of the Capital Management Framework for Statutory Boards under Finance 
Circular Minute M26/2008. The shares have been fully paid and are held by the Minister for Finance,  
a body incorporated by the Minister for Finance (Incorporation) Act 1959.  
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16 Capital account 
 
The capital account comprises the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment transferred from 
the former Building Control Division of the Public Works Department and the net value of assets and 
liabilities transferred from the former Construction Industry Development Board when the Authority 
was established on 1 April 1999. 
 
 

17 Net assets of trust and agency funds 
 
The trust and agency funds comprise 16 funds (2022: 18 funds) managed by the Authority on behalf 
of other agencies. 
 
The following funds were set up by the Ministry of National Development: 
 
(a) MND Research Fund 

 
The MND Research Fund provides support for applied Research and Development projects to 
raise the quality of life in Singapore. The Authority is both the administrator and a recipient of 
the MND Research Fund. 
 

(b) Accessibility Fund 
 
The Accessibility Fund provides support to private building owners to provide basic accessibility 
features in their buildings. 
 

(c) Green Mark Incentive Scheme (New Buildings) 
 
The Green Mark Incentive Scheme (New Buildings) provides support to private developers and 
owners to attain higher Green Mark ratings for their developments by adopting Green Building 
technologies in new construction projects. 
 

(d) Green Mark Incentive Scheme (Existing Buildings) 
 
The Green Mark Incentive Scheme (Existing Buildings) provides support to private developers 
and building owners to improve energy efficiency of their existing buildings. 
 

(e) Green Mark Incentive Scheme (Design Prototype) 
 
The Green Mark Incentive Scheme (Design Prototype) supports efforts invested into the design 
stage of green buildings to achieve higher energy efficiency. 
 

(f) Green Mark Incentive Scheme (Existing Buildings and Premises) 
 
The Green Mark Incentive Scheme (Existing Buildings and Premises) provides support to SME 
building owners and tenants to embark on environmental sustainability and improve energy 
efficiency (EE) standards of their buildings and premises. 
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(g) Building Retrofit Energy Efficiency Financing Scheme 
 
The Building Retrofit Energy Efficiency Financing Scheme provides financial assistance to the 
less financially strong building owners, MCST and Energy Services Companies to carry out 
building retrofits. For applications received since the start of the scheme till 31 March 2018, 
Ministry of Finance (MOF) bears a portion of the risk if there is a default in payment by the 
applicants, and the remaining risk is borne by the financial institutions. For application received 
from 1 April 2018, BCA bears a portion of the risk if a default by applicants occurs and the 
remaining risk is borne by the financial institutions.  
 
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the risk shared by the scheme owner on the outstanding 
banking facilities amounted to S$678,000 and S$1,415,000 respectively. 
 

(h) Built Environment Assistance Package 
 
The Built Environment Assistance Package is one of the support measures approved by Ministry 
of Finance as part of the Fortitude Budget announced in May 2020 to help the Built Environment 
sector amid the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
The following funds were granted by the Productivity Fund Administration Board: 
 

(i) Construction Productivity and Capability Fund 
 
The Construction Productivity and Capability Fund inclusive of Construction Industry 
Transformation Map grant aims to transform the construction sector through workforce 
development, technology adoption and capability development. 
 

(j) SkillsFuture Study Awards for Built Environment Sector 
 
The SkillsFuture Study Awards targets Singaporeans in their early to mid-career stages with the 
skills needed for quality jobs, by encouraging them to develop and deepen specialised skills in 
areas of demand required by future economic growth sectors. 
 

The following fund was granted by the SkillsFuture Singapore Agency with the aim to meet the long 
term requirements of the building and construction industry for different groups of professionals: 
 
(k) Workplace Safety and Health Professionals Workforce Skills Qualifications Framework Grant 

 
The Workplace Safety and Health (WSH) Professionals Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) 
Framework Grant aims to build a pool of skilled workers to meet the long-term requirements of 
the WSH professionals. The Grant offers Training and Assessment and Assessment-Only-
Pathway, which leads to qualifications under the WSQ system. 
 
The trust fund was discontinued and the remaining advancement balance of $16 was utilised in 
May 2022. 
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The following fund was set up by Ministry of National Development and Sino-Singapore Tianjin Eco-
City Administrative Committee (ECAC): 

 
(l) MND-ECAC Research Fund 

 
The MND-ECAC Research Fund supports green building research and development projects 
between Singapore and China in the Sino-Singapore Tianjin Eco-City. 
 

The following funds were set up by the National Research Fund: 
 

(m) Energy Innovation Research Programme for Building Energy Efficiency Grant 
 
The Energy Innovation Research Programme for Building Energy Efficiency Grant is meant for 
the administration and managing of the Energy Innovation Research Programme (EIRP) funding 
in the area of Building Energy Efficiency and to champion and coordinate green building R&D. 
 
The trust fund was discontinued and the remaining balance of $22,000 was returned to EDB in 
June 2022. 
 

(n) Green Buildings Innovation Cluster 
 
The Green Buildings Innovation Cluster aims to accelerate commercialisation of promising 
building energy-efficient technologies and solutions and bring them closer to market adoption. 
 

The following fund was granted by Workforce Singapore: 
 

(o) Professional Conversion Programme for BIM Professionals 
 
The Professional Conversion Programme aims to equip mid-career job seekers with the 
necessary knowledge and skills to take on a new career in the built environment industry. 
 

The following grant was launched by the Authority, National Environment Agency and Economic 
Development Board: 

 
(p) Grant for Low-GWP Refrigerant Chillers 

 
The Grant for Low-GWP (Global Warming Potential) Refrigerant Chillers aims to encourage 
companies to make an early switch to water-cooled chillers using lower GWP refrigerants. The 
Authority will be administering the grant for existing buildings. 
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Details of the trust and agency funds are set out below and have been prepared from the records of 
the trust and agency funds and reflect only transactions handled by the Group and the Authority: 
 
  Group and Authority 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
    
At beginning of the year  18,324 23,006 
Add: Receipts    

- Grants received  46,148 54,147 
- Cash float to trust fund  1,500 - 
- Interest income  48 25 
- Others  167 636 
- Grants to be received  - (89) 

  47,863 54,719 
    
Less: Disbursements to:    

- External Parties  (37,700) (52,735) 
- The Authority  (1,615) (1,817) 

Admin grants paid to the Authority  (1,111) (4,282) 
Fund returned due to project closure  (22) (567) 
  (40,448) (59,401) 
At end of the year  25,739 18,324 
    
    
Represented by:    
   Cash at bank  7,508 4,602 
   Cash with AGD  18,231 13,722 
   Total cash representing net assets as at 31 March  25,739 18,324 
    
 
 

18 Commitment 
 

 Capital commitments 
 
Capital expenditure approved by the Group but not provided for in the financial statements is as follows: 
 
  Group and Authority 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
    
Amount approved and committed  57,536 65,366 
    
Amount approved but not committed  550 6,383 
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19  Employee benefit costs 
 
 Group Authority 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Salaries, allowances and bonus 114,942 116,182 114,942 115,356 
Central Provident Fund contribution 16,029 16,570 16,029 16,457 
Pension benefits  65 71 65 71 
Other staff costs 3,843 149 3,843 149 
 134,879 132,972 134,879 132,033 
     
 

20 Tax expense 
 
Subsidiaries of the Authority are subject to tax under Section 10(1) and Section 11(2) of the Singapore 
Income Tax Act 1947: 
 
  Group 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
Current tax expense    
Current year  77 27 
(Over)/under provision in prior year   (18) 340 
  59 367 
    
Reconciliation of effective tax rate    
    
Surplus before contribution to consolidated fund and taxation  25,711 19,967 
Less: The Authority’s surplus before contribution to 

consolidated fund and income tax expense  (25,172) (20,276) 
Subsidiaries’ surplus/(deficit) before income tax expense  539 (309) 
    
Tax at statutory rate of 17% (2022: 17%)  92 (53) 
Tax exempt income  (17) 53 
Non-deductible items  2 27 
(Over)/under provision in prior year  (18) 340 
Tax expense  59 367 
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21 Surplus for the year 
 
The following items have been included in arriving at surplus for the financial year: 
 
 Group Authority 
 2023 2022 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
     
Builders licensing fees (2,372) (2,271) (2,372) (2,271) 
Importers licensing fees (3,129) (3,084) (3,129) (3,084) 
Impairment loss on receivables 1,126 1,456 1,126 1,456 
Input GST disallowed 4,100 3,530 4,100 3,530 
Property tax 1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250 
Contribution to consolidated fund  4,279 3,447 4,279 3,447 
Loss on lease modification - 214 - 214 
Expenses relating to Covid-19 - 7,011 - 7,011 
Employee benefit costs relating to  
   Covid-19 (included in Note 19) - 1,868 - 1,868 
Board members’ allowances 113 113 113 113 
Foreign exchange loss 3 2 3 2 
     
Interest income:     
- Interest income from  

cash and cash equivalents 5,382 1,160 5,382 1,160 
- Interest income on lease receivables 2,179 3,570 2,179 3,570 

 7,561 4,730 7,561 4,730 
     
Interest expenses:     
- Interest expenses on lease liabilities 2,588 4,199 2,588 4,199 
- Unwinding of discount on 

reinstatement costs provision 46 20 46 20 
- Interest expenses on late payment 264 307 264 307 

 2,898 4,526 2,898 4,526 
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22 Leases 
 
Leases as lessee (SB-FRS 116) 
 
The Group leases several assets including leasehold land, foreign workers’ dormitories, integrated 
construction and precast hubs, office space and others. The average lease term is 5 years for office 
buildings and structures and 30 years for leasehold land and building (2022: 5 years and 30 years 
respectively). 
 
The extension and termination options on the lease have been considered in the leases of the Group 
and the Authority. 
 
All lease liabilities are transacted with other Statutory Boards. Information about leases for which the 
Group is a lessee is presented below. 
 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment property 
and are presented as property, plant and equipment (see note 4). 
 

Group and Authority 

Leasehold 
land and 
building 

Office  
buildings and 

structures Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 
    
Balance at 1 April 2021 46,029 18,992 65,021 
Additions to right-of-use assets 26,400 1,248 27,648 
Depreciation charge for the year (1,957) (5,180) (7,137) 
Derecognition of right-of-use assets as a result of 

entering into finance sub-lease (26,400) - (26,400) 
Balance at 31 March 2022 44,072 15,060 59,132 
Additions to right-of-use assets 4,343 339 4,682 
Depreciation charge for the year (1,579) (5,647) (7,226) 
Derecognition of right-of-use assets as a result of 

entering into finance sub-lease (4,343) - (4,343) 
Balance at 31 March 2023 42,493 9,752 52,245 
    
 
(a) The foreign workers’ dormitories leased from Singapore Land Authority has a remaining tenure 

ranging from 1 year to 3 years. The integrated construction and precast hub leased from JTC 
Corporation has a remaining tenure of 20 years. The foreign workers’ dormitories and integrated 
construction and precast hub were sub-leased to third parties with the same tenure period. 

 
(b) The Group leases industrial lands for the development of the integrated construction and precast 

hub. As the leases were prepaid by the Group, no lease liabilities were recognised.  
 
(c) During the financial year, the Group renewed leases for foreign workers’ dormitories. The  

foreign workers’ dormitories leased from Singapore Land Authority is for the period till 2025.  As 
a result of entering into these finance sub-leases, lease receivables and lease liabilities of 
$4,343,000 (2022: $26,400,000) were recognised. 
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Amounts recognised in profit or loss: 
 
Lease under SB-FRS 116 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Interest on lease liabilities 2,588 4,199 
Expenses relating to short-term leases 11,397 1,658 
Expenses relating to non-lease component 1,886 1,891 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding  
   short-term leases of low-value assets 850 793 
   
 
Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows: 
 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
Total cash outflow for leases  47,733 69,871 
   
 
Leases as lessor (SB-SB-FRS 116) 
 
For the sub-leases of the foreign workers’ dormitories, ready-mixed concrete sites and integrated 
construction and precast hubs, interest income on lease receivables of $2,179,000 (2022: $3,571,000) 
were recognised by the Group. 
 
The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease 
payments to be received after the reporting date.  
 
 Group 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
- Less than one year 35,709 55,545 
- One to two years 8,182 19,849 
- Two to three years 1,507 6,813 
- Three to four years 1,285 1,247 
- Four to five years 1,285 1,247 
- More than five years 19,170 19,858 
Total undiscounted lease receivables 67,138 104,559 
Unearned finance income (8,273) (10,048) 
Impairment loss (10,143) (10,143) 
Net investment in the lease 48,722 84,368 
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23 Related party 
 
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant 
transactions between the Group and related parties took place on terms agreed between the parties 
during the financial year. The balances are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and to be 
settled in cash, unless otherwise stated. 
 
 
Key management personnel compensation 
 
Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the Authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. The Board members and executive 
key management are considered as key management personnel of the Group. 
 
The compensation to key management personnel is as follows: 
 
  Group and Authority 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
    
Short-term benefits  7,271 6,935 
CPF contributions  365 356 
Termination benefits  - 13 
  7,636 7,304 
    
 
Other related parties transactions 
 
During the financial year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties  
(i.e. entities in which the Board members have control or joint control) which are not government-
related entities: 
 
  Group and Authority 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
    
Plan fees  90 506 
Course fees  120 106 
Trade test fees  3,858 271 
Other income  189 391 
Employee benefit costs  (47) (911) 
Other expenditure  (85) (1,208) 
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Government-related entities transactions 
 
The Authority is a Statutory Board under the Ministry of National Development (“MND”), championing 
the development of an excellent built environment for Singapore. “Built environment” refers to 
buildings, structures and infrastructure in our surroundings that provide the setting for the 
community’s activities. 
 
The Singapore Government has control over the Authority, as well as Ministries, Organs of State and 
other Statutory Boards. 
 
 
Collectively, but not individually significant transactions 
 
The following significant transactions took place between the Group and other Ministries, Organs of 
State and other Statutory Boards. These transactions are conducted in the ordinary course of the 
Authority’s business on terms comparable to those with other entities that are not government related. 
 
  Group and Authority 
  2023 2022 
  $’000 $’000 
Service rendered     
Plan fees  12,846 5,740 
Course fees  1,450 1,422 
Quality and green mark assessment fees  4,648 2,495 
Management fee  6,880 4,963 
    
    
Service received    
Employee benefit costs  1,964 1,119 
Expenses related to short-term lease  12,697 2,127 
IT services  7,474 3,601 
    
 

24 Financial instruments 
 

(i) Financial risk management 
 
Overview 
 
The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 
 
• credit risk 
• liquidity risk 
• market risk 
 
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of 
capital. 
 
 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Year ended 31 March 2023

BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY92



 
 
 
BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION AUTHORITY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2023 
 
 
 

46 
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Risk management framework 
 
The Group and the Authority are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of 
financial instruments.  The Group has documented financial risk management policies. These policies 
set out the Group’s overall business strategies and its risk management philosophy.  The Group’s 
overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of the 
financial performance of the Group. Such written policies are reviewed annually by the management 
and periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that the Group’s policy guidelines are complied with. 
The key financial risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk and credit risk. 
 
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.  The board 
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. 
 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Authority’s exposure to credit risk arise primarily from 
trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including cash and bank balances), the Group 
and the Authority minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. 
 
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality. A 
majority of the Group's receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are credit worthy 
counterparties with good track record of credit history. 
 
In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality 
of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. If the 
financial condition of the customers were to deteriorate, the Group would be required to record 
additional impairment losses. Credit risk is limited due to management’s on-going evaluation of the 
credit worthiness of the Group’s customers and given that the majority of the Group’s trade receivables 
are within their expected cash collection cycle. 
 
 
Credit risk concentration profile 
 
The Group determines concentration of credit risk by monitoring the customer profile of its trade and 
other receivables on an ongoing basis. 
 
At the end of the financial year, approximately 21% (2022: 11%) of the Group’s trade and  
other receivables was due from 1 (2022: 1) major customer with a total balance of $15,742,000  
(2022: $11,019,000) located in Singapore. 
 
 
Expected credit loss assessment (“ECL”) as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 
 
The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade and other receivables. Loss rates 
are based on actual credit loss experience. Management considers the differences between economic 
conditions during the period over which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and 
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. The amount of the 
allowance on this balance is insignificant. 
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The following tables provide information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other 
receivables as at 31 March 2023: 
 
 2023 2022 

 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Impairment 
losses 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Impairment 
losses 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Group     
     
Not past due 65,185 (1,187) 99,160 (4,417) 
Past due:     

- less than 3 months 4,002 (4) 3,266 - 
- 3 months to 6 months 136 (4) 2,121 (1) 
- more than 6 months to 12 months 4,920 (16) 5,561 (5,123) 
- more than 12 months 12,103 (11,111) 1,676 (1,655) 

 86,346 (12,322) 111,784 (11,196) 
     
     
Authority     
     
Not past due 64,750 (1,187) 99,423 (4,417) 
Past due:     

- less than 3 months 3,968 (4) 3,222 - 
- 3 months to 6 months 12 (4) 2,121 (1) 
- more than 6 months to 12 months 4,893 (16) 5,561 (5,123) 
- more than 12 months 12,103 (11,111) 1,676 (1,655) 
 85,726 (12,322) 112,003 (11,196) 

     
 
At 31 March 2023, the individual impairment losses of the Group and the Authority related to several 
customers that had indicated that they were not expecting to be able to pay their outstanding balances, 
mainly due to economic circumstances. 
 
 
Movement in allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables 
 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the 
year was as follows: 
 
 Lifetime ECL 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
At beginning of the year 11,196 9,740 
Allowance for impairment loss  1,126 1,456 
At end of the year 12,322 11,196 
 
 
The Group and the Authority believe that the unimpaired amounts are still collectible in full, based on 
historic payment behaviour and extensive analyses of customer credit risk. 
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The following tables provide information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other 
receivables as at 31 March 2023: 
 
 2023 2022 

 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Impairment 
losses 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Impairment 
losses 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Group     
     
Not past due 65,185 (1,187) 99,160 (4,417) 
Past due:     

- less than 3 months 4,002 (4) 3,266 - 
- 3 months to 6 months 136 (4) 2,121 (1) 
- more than 6 months to 12 months 4,920 (16) 5,561 (5,123) 
- more than 12 months 12,103 (11,111) 1,676 (1,655) 

 86,346 (12,322) 111,784 (11,196) 
     
     
Authority     
     
Not past due 64,750 (1,187) 99,423 (4,417) 
Past due:     

- less than 3 months 3,968 (4) 3,222 - 
- 3 months to 6 months 12 (4) 2,121 (1) 
- more than 6 months to 12 months 4,893 (16) 5,561 (5,123) 
- more than 12 months 12,103 (11,111) 1,676 (1,655) 
 85,726 (12,322) 112,003 (11,196) 

     
 
At 31 March 2023, the individual impairment losses of the Group and the Authority related to several 
customers that had indicated that they were not expecting to be able to pay their outstanding balances, 
mainly due to economic circumstances. 
 
 
Movement in allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables 
 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the 
year was as follows: 
 
 Lifetime ECL 
 2023 2022 
 $’000 $’000 
   
At beginning of the year 11,196 9,740 
Allowance for impairment loss  1,126 1,456 
At end of the year 12,322 11,196 
 
 
The Group and the Authority believe that the unimpaired amounts are still collectible in full, based on 
historic payment behaviour and extensive analyses of customer credit risk. 
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Financial guarantees 
 
The Group participated in an agreement with financial institutions to provide financial guarantees to 
qualifying scheme applicants since 1 April 2018 under The Building Retrofit Energy Efficiency Financing 
(“BREEF”) Scheme. As at the respective financial years ended, the Authority has an outstanding 
guarantee to a bank in respect of credit facilities granted to 1 (2022: 1) scheme applicant. The 
guarantee is subject to the impairment assessment under SB-FRS 109.  
 
At 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the risk shared by the Authority on the outstanding banking 
facility amounted to $191,000 and $312,000 respectively. 
 
Based on the annual credit review by the financial institution, the scheme applicant has the financial 
capacity to meet the contractual cash flow obligations in the near future and hence, the Authority does 
not expect significant credit losses from this guarantee. 
 
 
Cash and bank balances 
 
The cash and bank balances as disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements are held with bank and 
financial institution counterparties which are rated P-1, based on Moody’s ratings. The Authority 
participated in the Centralised Liquidity Management scheme starting from 25 March 2010. 
 
Impairment on cash and bank balances has been measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and 
reflects the short maturities of the exposures.  The Group and the Authority consider that its cash and 
bank balances have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. The 
amount of the allowance on cash and bank balances is negligible. 
 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to 
shortage of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the 
maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group manages the liquidity risk by maintaining 
sufficient cash and bank balances to enable them to meet their normal operating commitments. 
 
 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 
 
All financial liabilities in 2022 and 2023 are repayable on demand or due within 1 year from the end 
of the reporting period, except for lease liabilities.    
 
 
Market risk 
 
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it 
manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis 
indicated below. 
 
 
Interest rate risk management 
 
The Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments mainly relates to cash and bank balances which are 
all short-term. Hence, management does not expect future fluctuations in interest rates to have 
significant impact on the Group’s results or cash flows. 
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(ii) Fair values of financial instruments 
 
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or 
settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm's length transaction, other than in a 
forced or liquidation sale. 
 
 
Financial instruments whose carrying amount approximates fair value 
 
Management has determined that the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, amounts due 
from its subsidiaries, cash and bank balances, trade and other payables reasonably approximate their 
fair values because these are mostly short-term in nature.  
 
 

(iii) Capital risk management policies and objectives 
 
The capital structure of the Authority consists of share capital, capital account and accumulated surplus. 
The Authority manages its capital to ensure it will be able to continue as a going concern and in 
accordance with the Capital Management Framework formulated by the Ministry of Finance. The 
framework sets out the basis of equity contribution by the Government to the Authority and the 
principle of dividend distribution to the Government. The Authority's overall strategy remains 
unchanged from the previous financial year. 
 
 

25 Reclassifications and comparative figures 
 
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year’s financial statements to enhance comparability 
with the current year’s financial statements and provide better clarity. 
 
As a result, certain line items have been amended in the notes to the financial statements. 
Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
 
The items were reclassified as follows: 
 
  Group Authority 

 
 Previously 

reported 
After 

reclassification 
Previously 
reported 

After 
reclassification 

  2022 2022 2022 2022 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Trade receivables  16,161 11,847 16,117 11,803 
Lease receivables  80,054 84,368 80,054 84,368 
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